FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 21 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

84,371

CLERK,	SUPREME	COURT
Ву	wist Denvity Ci	ark

WILLIAM LEE STRAUSSER, JR.,
Appellant,
vs.
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILLIAM LEE STRAUSSER, JR.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
CASE NO. 92-16860 CF10A
HONORABLE PAUL J. BACKMAN

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT ONE EAST BROWARD BOULEVARD SUITE 1500, BARNETT BANK PLAZA FORT LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33301 (305) 522-7000 FLORIDA BAR NO: 394688

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief of Appellant:

The term "Appellant" shall refer to the Defendant in the Circuit Court below, William Lee Strausser, Jr.

The term "Appellee" shall refer to the Plaintiff in the Circuit Court below, The State of Florida.

Citations to the transcript of the trial proceedings contained in Volumes I through XIV, contained in pages 1 through 1842, and Volumes XV through XVI, containing all of the pleadings and other documents filed in this cause, contained in pages 1843 through 2214 will be indicated by an "R" followed by the appropriate page number (R).

All emphasis indicated throughout this Brief has been supplied by undersigned counsel, unless otherwise stated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 18, 1992, members of the Broward Sheriffs Office responded to the scene of a "possible home invasion robbery that possibly resulted in the death of a man." (R 1846) The man was later identified as Allan¹ Trubilla (R 1845). Allan Trubilla's 14 year old son, Elec Trubilla was found at the scene covered in blood. Elec's statements to the police were inconsistent with other witnesses' statements. Ultimately, law enforcement believed that the stabbing death of Allan Trubilla was committed by the decedent's son and the decedent's friend, William Strausser.

An arrest warrant was issued for William Strausser seeking his detention for murder in the first degree (R 1844). William Strausser was described as a white male whose date of birth was February 20, 1961 (R 1848). On September 3, 1992, a Grand Jury from the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County returned an Indictment charging the decedent's son, Elec Trubilla and William Strausser with murder in the first degree (R 1843).

William Strausser was apprehended by members of the United States Marshal's Office in Chicago, Illinois in September 1992, and was extradited to Florida to stand charges on the outstanding Indictment (R 1849). On October 14, 1992, when William Strausser returned to Broward County, Florida, he was held on two charges, murder in the first degree in case number 92-1666-CF, and

¹ The Indictment spells the decedent's name "Allan". The trial transcripts contain the spelling "Alan".

interference with child custody, 92-12870-CF10A (R 1849). No bond holds were placed on William Strausser as to each count (R 1849). Broward Sheriff's Officers believed William Strausser to be a suicide risk (R 1850).

On October 15, 1992, William Strausser was brought before a committing Magistrate, who found that probable cause existed to require William Strausser to answer the charges based upon the Affidavit of Officer Nieves (R 1851). Counsel was appointed and an Order entered forbidding law enforcement from speaking to the Defendant without an attorney being present, based upon the Defendant's previously filed Notice of Defendant's Invocation of Rights to Remain Silent, and Right to Counsel (R 1852).

On October 20, 1992, the Defendant was arraigned. A plea of not guilty was entered as to the charge of murder in the first degree (R 1-41; 1862).

Pretrial, the defense moved for appointment of an expert pursuant to Rule 3.216, Fla. R. Crim. P. (R 1872) In so doing, the defense advised the court that William Strausser had a history of mental illness, having attempted suicide on two prior occasions. While detained pending trial, William Strausser was

² There is no Affidavit from Officer Nieves in the Clerk of Court's file nor in the Record on appeal. No such officer testified at trial. The Appellant at this juncture is unsure what affidavit, if any, the court actually reviewed.

³ From the pleadings filed, in 1979 William Strausser attempted suicide by overdosing on pills while in the United States Air Force (R 1882). In 1981 William Strausser attempted suicide by shooting himself in the chest with a .22 caliber gun (R 1878).

ingesting prescription psychotropic medication (R 1872).

On December 21, 1992, pursuant to an Order entered by the trial court, Dr. Antoinette Appel was appointed to evaluate William Strausser regarding several issues surrounding his sanity at the time of the offenses and competency to stand trial (R 1886-88).

On March 25, 1993, the State Attorney advised William Strausser's counsel that Elec Trubilla would be testifying as a State witness in the prosecution of William Strausser (R 1904). Discovery continued.

On October 15, 1993, William Strausser filed a Notice of Intent to Rely On the Insanity Defense Pursuant to Rule 3.216, Fla. R. Crim. P. (R 1935). The Notice stated that William Strausser:

Did not know the difference between right and wrong and/or the nature and consequences of his actions on August 18, 1992 due to his abrupt discontinuation of his medication to wit: Prozac and/or Elec Trubilla's report of being abused by his father, Allan Trubilla.

(R 1935).

The same day, the trial court appointed Dr. Trudy Block-Garfield, and Dr. Michael F. Walczak as court appointed doctors to evaluate the Defendant (R 1938-39).

During a pretrial hearing conducted on November 19, 1993, defense counsel informed the court:

In my conversations with Dr. Walczak, he indicated to me that one of the areas that he really is not familiar with is the situation where someone is immediately taken off the drug Prozac, what affect that may have.

Pretrial, the defense filed several "capital motions." (R 89) Likewise, the defense filed a Motion to Suppress a statement given by William Strausser at the time of his arrest in Chicago, Illinois (R 2041). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on the Motion to Suppress Statements (R 93-172; 443-461; 478-535; 2043).

On January 27, 1994, a jury panel was selected. <u>Voir dire</u> was conducted over the course of a full day, at which time the jury was selected and sworn (R 2044-50). The jury was recessed until February 7, 1994.

During the interim, hearing on the Defendant's suppression motion continued on February 4 and February 7, 1994. The Defendant as well as other witnesses testified on William Strausser's behalf. The Motion to Suppress was denied (R 2051). All of the capital motions were either denied or, deemed moot, or deemed to not yet be "ripe." (R 2052)

Opening statement was conducted by the State on February 7, 1994. Just prior thereto, the Rule of Sequestration was invoked (R 536). During the State's opening, reference was made to felony charges lodged against William Strausser for interference with child custody surrounding Elec Trubilla. Trial continued on February 8 and 9, with the State resting its case-in-chief. A defense Motion for Mistrial and for Judgment of Acquittal was denied (R 984-985). After defense opening on February 9, the defense case continued with the presentation of four witnesses, including William Strausser on February 10, 1994. Over defense

objection, the state expert witnesses were permitted to sit in the courtroom during William Strausser's testimony. On February 14, 1994, the defense rested. The renewed Motion for Judgment of Acquittal was denied (R 1305). Following the presentation of the two rebuttal witnesses, who had been permitted to violate the Rule of Sequestration, closing arguments were given (R 1411-1496). On February 15, 1994 the jury was instructed (R 1506-1523).

Following deliberations, a Guilty Verdict was returned (R 1535; 2092). The jury was polled (R 1535-1537). Following entry of the Verdict, William Strausser was adjudicated guilty of murder in the first degree (R 2093).

The defense timely filed a Motion for New Trial (R 2095).

The Motion was orally denied (R 1772).

The penalty phase was conducted approximately six weeks later via the presentation of one witness on behalf of the State, and five witnesses, including William Strausser, on behalf of the defense. The jury was instructed concerning its advisory sentence (R 2105). After hearing all of the testimony and reviewing all of the evidence, the jury recommended that William Strausser be imprisoned for life with a mandatory 25 years (R 2112). Subsequently, the State of Florida filed a request for a judicial override (R 2118).

On September 1, 1994, the Honorable Paul Backman, Circuit Judge, entered a Sentencing Order (R 2029-71). The court overrode the jury's recommendation of life, and sentenced the

Defendant to death by electrocution (R 2172-78). The court cited two (2) aggravating factors: that the offense was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (§ 921.141(5)(h); and that the offense was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (§ 921.141(5)(i))(R 2130; 1234). The court likewise took into consideration statutory mitigating circumstances offered by the defense: 1) that the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity (§ 921.141(6)(a); 2) that the offense was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance (§ 921.141(6)(b); 3) that the victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to the act4 (§ 921.141(6)(c); 4) that the defendant was an accomplice in the felony committed by another person, and the defendant's participation was relatively minor⁵; 5) the defendant was under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person (§ 921.141(6)(e))⁶; 6) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and to conform it to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (§ 921.141(6)(f)⁷; 7) the age of the defendant at the

⁴ But the court found no Record testimony or evidence to support this mitigating circumstance.

 $^{^{5}}$ The court found that this mitigating circumstance did not exist (R 2159).

⁶ However, the court found that this mitigating circumstance did not exist (R 2160).

⁷ The court found that this mitigating factor did not exist (R 2161).

time of the offense (§ 921.161(6)(g)8. Similarly, the court reviewed several non-statutory mitigating factors, including William Strausser's family background, his mental problems and difficulties, the fact that William Strausser was severely abused as a child, his remorse, his employment history, his potential for rehabilitation, the sentence of the co-defendant, the Defendant's excellent behavior during trial, the Defendant's voluntary confession and cooperation with the police, the Defendant's contribution to the community or society, and found that William Strausser is a good parent, good husband, and family The court also reviewed other aspects of William Strausser's character, record and background, and "other circumstances" of the offense. Nonetheless, the court found the jury's advisory sentence "...was not the result of sound reasoned judgment as it must be." The trial court disregarded the jury's verdict and sentenced William Strausser to death (R 2169). A Notice of Appeal was timely filed (R 2180). William Strausser remains confined on death row at Union Correctional Institution in Raiford, Florida. This appeal ensues.

The court found no testimony or evidence to support this mitigating factor (R 2161).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Deputy Fernando Gajate of the Broward Sheriffs Office responded to a "911" home invasion call at the apartment of Elec Trubilla and his father, Allan Trubilla, on August 18, 1992. 911 call was dispatched at 1:25 o'clock a.m. (R 557). Deputy Gajate arrived at the scene, he observed a white juvenile male, later identified as 14 year old Elec Trubilla covered in blood standing outside the apartment (R 558). Elec Trubilla's father, Allan Trubilla was found laying in the bathroom in a pool of blood with a knife lying next to his body (R 560). Elec Trubilla was asked what happened (R 561). He had blood all over him and a cut on his left hand (R 562). Elec Trubilla told Deputy Gajate and Deputy Orlando Alvarez that he awoke to his father being attacked and stabbed (R 563; 571-74). He stated that he was cut by the subject as he tried to assist his father. Elec Trubilla testified that Mark Chandler, the apartment manager, came to the door during the attack and that shortly thereafter the suspect ran off (R 563). At the time of the statement, Elec was unemotional and was not crying (R 565; 568-69).

The medical examiner, Dr. Michael Bell, testified that he found 45 stab or incise wounds on Allan Trubilla. The wounds were caused by a sharp object, such as a knife, and were clustered in several areas. There were 13 on the right side of the head and neck (R 740). There were 8 on the left side of the head and neck, and 7 in the back (R 740). The most serious

wounds involved the right neck, underneath the jaw. The medical examiner testified concerning one (1) stab wound which went upwards through the tongue and severed the carotid artery. The medical examiner also testified that wounds were caused by a blunt object, consistent with the iron skillet found at the scene of the crime. The medical examiner concluded that the cause of death was blunt and sharp forced injuries to the head and neck (R 743-48). The doctor admitted on cross-examination that he had no way of knowing whether the decedent was struck with a blunt object first, or stabbed (R 750). There was no way to tell which of the two (2) individuals inflicted which injury (R 751).

Officer Gail Neuman testified that she arrested William Strausser in Chicago, Illinois following his apprehension at the Chicago O'Hare Airport on September 19, 1992 (R 581). Officer Neuman was called in to witness the reading of the Miranda rights (R 582). The witness testified that she observed Sergeant Kurt Blanc read the Defendant his rights (R 483). This was at approximately 9:00 o'clock p.m. (R 582). Via Officer Neuman, the State introduced the Rights Waiver Form signed by the Defendant (R 583). The defense objected and renewed its pretrial Motion to Suppress (R 584). The objection was overruled (R 585). The officer admitted that William Strausser had a broken ankle and was on crutches (R 487; 588).

William Strausser testified during the defense case-inchief. At the time of his testimony, William Strausser was being prescribed sinaquane and thorazine (R 1199). William Strausser testified that he had been born in Baltimore, Maryland and has one brother, one step-brother and one step-sister (R 1199). William Strausser recounted being physically abused by his step-father while growing up, and simultaneously being molested by his step-father and another man (R 1203-04). When William Strausser was 11 years old, he was molested by his Aunt Janet (R 1205).

At age 19, William Strausser entered the Armed Forces (R 1207). He testified that he joined because he could not handle all the responsibilities placed on him at home (R 1207). While in the Air Force, the William Strausser attempted suicide by taking an overdose of pills and jumping through a plate glass window. The military psychiatrist found him to be unfit, and honorably discharged him (R 1208). One year after his attempted suicide while in the Air Force, William Strausser tried to kill himself again by shooting himself in the chest while living in Baltimore, Maryland (R 1210). He was 21 at the time.

William Strausser testified that he became involved with Lloyd Pryor through the Big Brother Program and eventually moved in with he and his mother (R 1212). William Strausser was engaged to marry a woman named Debbie Markeo, who died in a car accident six (6) months before his second suicide attempt (R 1213-14).

At the time of William Strausser's second attempt on his life, Strausser was under the care of a psychologist named Mary Brooks at Johns Hopkins Hospital (R 1211).

William Strausser testifeid that he moved to Florida with

Lloyd and his mother, Mary Pryor, in 1986 or 1987 (R 1216). He married his wife, Margaret Strausser in 1990 (R 1217).

Over defense objection, Detective George A. Bruder, from the Broward Sheriff's Office, testified concerning the facts and circumstances surrounding the charges filed against William Strausser for interference with child custody (R 966; 972). Detective Bruder advised that he encountered William Strausser and his wife while investigating a complaint concerning Elec Trubilla running away. Elec had been reported missing on May 20, 1992 (R 974). On May 28, 1992, the Detective went to William Strausser's home. William Strausser greeted the Detective at the door in a bathrobe and told him that Elec was not there (R 974). At about the same time, his wife, Margaret Strausser came out of the bedroom and closed the door (R 975). As Mrs. Strausser tried to go back into the bedroom, the Detective attempted to follow She stopped the Detective from going into the bedroom. After the Detective persisted, stating that he was concerned about his personal safety, the Detective entered the bedroom and found Elec dressed in his underwear (R 975). The Detective was permitted to testify that before Elec Trubilla left, he observed William Strausser hug Elec and that they kissed each other on the lips (R 976). The Detective testified that Elec Trubilla was examined by the Sexual Assault Treatment Division and the exam was negative for any type of abuse (R 980). After Elec was returned a Complaint was lodged against William Strausser by Allan Trubilla (R 981).

William Strausser met Allan Trubilla through working at Zaks and also a 7-Eleven (R 1218). He became sexually involved with Allan Trubilla four (4) months after their friendship started (R 1219). At the time, William Strausser was seeing a psychologist named Katrina Fritz (R 1219).

Ultimately, William Strausser's relationship with Allan Trubilla began to "sour" when Allan wanted more of a commitment from William Strausser (R 1221). William Strausser was not ready for that. He never intended to leave his wife (R 1221). During the break-up, Allan Trubilla told William Strausser to stop spending time with his son. Strausser believed that Allan was jealous of the relationship between he and Elec Trubilla (R 1224). Elec repeatedly told him of the abuse he was suffering because of Allan. William Strausser was trying to get help for Elec by contacting Elec Trubilla's school counselor, the Florida Abuse Center, HRS, and Elec's mother (R 1228). William Strausser, his wife, and Elec's mother at one point discussed trying to get Elec out of Allan's house, and into William Strausser's custody (R 1229). Elec had threatened to run away many times (R 1230). William Strausser and his wife allowed Elec to stay with them (R 1230).

William Strausser testified that when he was seeing Katrina Fritz he would miss appointments because he did not have the money to pay for the sessions (R 1232). Ultimately, William began to see Dr. Diaz, and was prescribed Prozac (R 1232). Being cautious about the drug he waited about thirty (30) days to begin

taking it (R 1233). Although Katrina Fritz and William both felt that he needed hospitalization, it was too expensive for him (R 1233). William Strausser was without funds. At that point, he was depressed and suicidal.

William Strausser testified that before taking Prozac, he was very violent and angry (R 1234). After taking Prozac, everything changed and he became calm.

After the interference with child custody charges, William Strausser, his wife, Lloyd and Lloyd's mother moved to the Cape Coral area (R 1235). William Strausser and his mental health advisors thought it best he move away. William Strausser no longer talked to Katrina Fritz, and could no longer afford to see Dr. Diaz or obtain medication. Prozac cost \$60 per month, and William Strausser had no health insurance (R 1236).

William Strausser made appointments in July to seek treatment at the end of August and middle of September (R 1237). He testified that he was unable to get treatment at any other time. In the meantime, at the beginning of August, William Strausser ran out of Prozac (R 1237). During the two (2) or three (3) weeks thereafter, he became violent, depressed, and suicidal (R 1237). His behavior was worse after going off Prozac than it was on Prozac (R 1238). At one point he almost killed his wife. He was unable to control himself (R 1238). Elec Trubilla continued to call him during this time. Then, Lloyd abruptly left. William Strausser became enraged (R 1239).

A couple of months before the incident, Elec Trubilla had

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