IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	I	L	E	D
			MITE	

NOV 9 1995

WILLIAM LEE STRAUSSER, JR.,)	CLERK, SUBREME COURT By Chief Denuty Clerk
Appellant,)	Chief Deputy Clerk
VS.)	Case No. 84,371
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.))	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

at 7:14 p.m., but did not ask Appellant to sign the form and did not ask Appellant any questions about the case. (T 448-49, 451-52). Chicago Police Officer Gail Neuman testified that her supervisor, Sergeant Blanc, read Appellant his Miranda rights again at 9:00 p.m. in her presence, that Appellant responded affirmatively when asked if he understood his rights after each question, and that Appellant signed the waiver portion of the rights form in her presence. (T 483-85). Detective Palmer from the Broward Sheriff's Office testified that Appellant told him that he understood his rights. (T 125). Finally, Appellant acknowledged on the tape that he had been advised of his rights and that he had signed a rights waiver form. (T 131).

As for Appellant's mental state, all four officers who testified at the hearing stated that Appellant did not appear to be under the influence of any substance and was not acting strangely. (T 108, 127-28, 454, 487). Officer Neuman testified that Appellant complained that his leg was "sore" when he first entered the police room, but she did not remember whether Appellant requested or was offered any medical assistance or medication. (T 492-94). Both Appellant and his wife, however, testified that Appellant was given medication after the police questioning. (T 499-500, 519). Importantly, Appellant testified that the police did not withhold his medication in order to coerce him to speak to them. (T 526). As the trial court concluded, "[h]e didn't breakdown, he didn't cry, he didn't give any indication that there was a problem psychologically."

Even if Appellant's mental health had been affected by a lack of medication, he has failed to show that there was coercive police activity, which Appellant concedes is a necessary predicate to the finding that a confession is involuntary. **Brief of Appellant** at 58 (citing <u>Copeland v. Wainwright</u>, 505 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1987)). As noted, Appellant testified at the suppression hearing

³ As the trial court noted, if the police had given Appellant a narcotic painkiller before or during their interview, he would have had a far better argument that he was under the influence and did not voluntarily waive his <u>Miranda</u> rights.

that the police did not withhold his pain medication as a means to coerce his confession. In fact, according to Appellant and his wife, the police gave him some pain medication immediately after their questioning. Thus, the record supports the trial court's finding that Appellant voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived his rights and confessed to the crime. Under the totality of the circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to suppress. Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234, 1237 (Fla. 1990) (evidence supported court's denial of motion to suppress where judge resolved question of credibility in favor of state); Henry v. State, 613 So.2d 429, 431 (Fla. 1992) (trial court properly concluded that defendant made statements knowingly and voluntarily); Brown v. State, 609 So.2d 60 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (evidence supported court's conclusion that there was valid waiver even though evidence was in conflict), rev. denied, 617 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1993).

Were this Court to find, however, that the record did not support the trial court's ruling, any error in admitting Appellant's taped statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As detailed in Issue II, supra, based on the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to render a guilty verdict, there is no reasonable possibility that had Appellant's taped statement not been admitted the verdict would have been different. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction for the first degree murder of Allan Trubilla.

ISSUE V

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL BASED ON SEVERAL ALLEGED ERRORS BY THE STATE AND THE TRIAL COURT (Restated).

A. The admission during the guilt phase of Elec Trubilla's 911 call to the police, and the admission during the penalty phase of Elec Trubilla's taped statement to the police.

During the guilt-phase testimony of Detective John Palmer, the lead detective on this case, the State sought to admit into evidence and to publish a tape recording of the 911 call made by Elec Trubilla immediately after the murder. Defense counsel made no objection to the tape, and it was played for the jury. (T 773-76). In this appeal, Appellant concedes that he did not preserve this issue for appeal, but claims that the tape's admission constituted fundamental error. **Brief of Appellant** at 61 & n.26. Specifically, Appellant complains that "the 911 call was not relevant and lacked probative value. Importantly, it contained a false statement by a 14 year old which [he] was never permitted to cross-examine." <u>Id.</u> at 62.

In <u>Ware v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the defendant objected to the introduction of a 911 tape on relevancy grounds. On appeal, the district court affirmed the trial court's decision to admit the tape because the tape was relevant and admissible as excited utterances and spontaneous statements. <u>Id.</u> at 1201. <u>See also Allison v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1931, 1932 (Fla. 2d DCA Aug. 23, 1995); <u>Crenshaw v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 349, 349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (refusing to consider issue because not preserved). Appellant attempts to distinguish <u>Ware</u> based on the fact that the person who made the call in <u>Ware</u> testified at the trial, whereas Elec did not. Under these two exceptions to the hearsay rule, however, the availability of the declarant is irrelevant. § 90.803(1) & (2), Fla. Stat. (1991). Thus, Appellant's distinction is unavailing.

Were this Court to find, however, that the 911 call was admitted in error, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Given the quality and quantity of permissible evidence, as detailed in Issue II, <u>supra</u>, upon which jury could have relied to reach a guilty verdict, there is no reasonable possibility that the verdict would have been different had the 911 call not been admitted. <u>See State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Appellant also complains that the admission of Elec's taped statement during the penalty phase, over his objection (T 1579), violated his constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him because he was denied "an adequate opportunity to cross-examine a crucial adverse witness." Brief of Appellant at 60-63. Appellant acknowledges, however, that section 941.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), authorizes the admission of hearsay testimony, and that this provision has withstood constitutional attack. Id. at 62-63. See also Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1016 (Fla. 1992); Hodges v. State, 595 So.2d 929, 933 (Fla. 1992). The record reveals that, ten days before the penalty phase, the State indicated that it was going to admit Elec Trubilla's taped statement to the police. (T 1549-50). Not only did Appellant have the opportunity, which he used, to cross-examine the officer who obtained the taped statement and identified it at trial, but he had the opportunity to rebut Elec's statement by calling other witnesses, perhaps even Elec. He chose not to do so. Under the circumstances, Appellant's rights were preserved. If, however, the taped statement was improperly admitted, there is no reasonable possibility that the jury's recommendation or the trial court's ultimate sentence been different had the tape not been admitted. Although the trial court used Elec's statement to support its override of the jury's life recommendation, the tape was cumulative to other evidence admitted at trial upon which the trial court could have relied. Consequently, Appellant's sentence of death should be affirmed.

B. The admission during the guilt phase of portions of letters sent by Appellant to Lloyd Pryor after Appellant's arrest which were read to the jury but not admitted into evidence.

During the State's direct examination of Lloyd Pryor, Mr. Pryor testified without objection that Appellant had sent him two letters after Appellant had been arrested. One letter was dated November 27, 1992, and the other letter was dated December 2, 1992. (T 909-911). When the State asked Mr. Pryor whether Appellant expressed any anger at him in the letters, defense counsel objected on relevancy grounds. (T 911). At sidebar, the prosecutor read the letter and explained that he had no intention of reading the letter to the jury, due to its prejudicial nature, but merely intended to ask Mr. Pryor questions about it. The first letter read:

11-27-93 [sic]. Lloyd, I thought I would have heard from you by now, I guess you feel guilty about leaving. As far as what happened, I blame you, you were the last straw and I broke. My life is gone now. If I can make your life gone, I promise you I will. You knew I was having problems, how could you leave me? Then you leave your mother on top of that. You are a self-centered little piece of shit, and I am sorry I ever helped you. I should have left you at Armstead Gardens. What goes around, comes around. Watch your back, I'll be there. Bill.

(T 911-12). The State argued that the letter was relevant to establish Appellant's motive for the murder and to establish state of mind shortly before the murder. (T 912). When asked by the trial court whether the State intended to introduce the letter into evidence, the prosecutor explained that he did not because "it might be unfairly prejudicial to Mr. Strausser to get into the total content about calling him a piece of shit and things like that. I am trying to keep that away from the jury." (T 913). Defense counsel then argued that Appellant's threats to Mr. Pryor were not relevant, and the State responded, "That's what I am trying not to introduce." The trial court agreed with the State that aspects of the letter were highly relevant to show Appellant's state of mind at the time of the crime. It expressed concern, however, about the prejudicial impact of the balance of the latter

and sought defense counsel's opinion on how best to present the relevant portion without presenting the prejudicial portion. (T 914-15).

After a brief recess, the State proposed reading select portions of the letter, namely, the date, the greeting, the first two sentences (as quoted above), then "I am sorry I ever helped you. I should have left you at Armstead Gardens," and the signature. (T 915). Defense counsel renewed his relevancy objection to the whole letter. (T 916). The trial court overruled the objection and approved those portions noted by the State. (T 916). Thereafter, the State read the second letter to the trial court, in which Appellant apologized for the first letter and expressed his love for Mr. Pryor and his mother. Defense counsel requested that the State read the entire letter, and the trial court agreed. (T 916-17).

In this appeal, Appellant complains in a two-paragraph argument without any citation to case law, that "[t]he State was permitted, over defense objection to read portions of the letters, and not introduce them into evidence (R 915)." **Brief of Appellant** at 63. To the extent Appellant has made a sufficient claim for relief, the State submits that it is wholly without merit. Appellant raised a relevancy objection below. The trial court determined that those portions read by the State were relevant to show Appellant's state of mind at the time of the offense, which was an issue at trial. The trial court agreed with the State, however, that portions of the first letter were more prejudicial than probative. Had Appellant wanted to present the whole letter, he certainly could have done so during his case. The fact that he chose not to do so does not render the trial court's ruling erroneous. See Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988).

To the extent this Court finds that the trial court erred, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As detailed in Issue II, <u>supra</u>, based on the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to render a guilty verdict, there is no reasonable

possibility that had the entire letters been read into the record and admitted into evidence the verdict would have been different. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction for the first-degree murder of Allan Trubilla.

C. The admission during the guilt phase of a videotape of the crime scene.

Just prior to the testimony of Detective Kammerer, the first crime scene technician, the trial court asked defense counsel whether he had any objection to the admission of the crime scene video tape. Defense counsel objected only to that portion of the video which showed Allan Trubilla lying in the bathroom with the knife by his body: "My objection is, it would be duplicative [sic] [sic]." (T 631). When the trial court asked defense counsel whether he was moving to redact the video tape or to suppress it in its entirety, defense counsel stated, "I am not trying to suppress the entire thing, I think there are relevant portions." (T 632). The trial court inquired, "Just that one portion?" (T 632). Defense counsel responded, "The one portion I objected to, Judge, that would be the one portion I am objecting to." (T 633). The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection (T 633), and the videotape was played in its entirety during Detective Kammerer's testimony while the detective explained the crime scene as he found it. (T 641-49).

In this appeal, Appellant claims (1) that "the videotape was unnecessary to assist any witness in explaining the facts and circumstances of this case," (2) that "the video tape at issue was so inflammatory in nature as to outweigh its relevancy," and (3) that, "in light of the other evidence admitted, the videotape was merely cumulative." **Brief of Appellant** at 64. Given that Appellant did not challenge the admission of the videotape in its entirety in the trial court, and did not make the same arguments there that he makes here, he is procedurally barred from doing so on appeal. Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Regardless, his complaints are without merit. Detective Kammerer testified that the videotape

would assist him in describing the crime scene, and he in fact used it extensively during his testimony. (T 639, 641-49). Jones v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S577, 578 (Fla. Nov. 10, 1994) (finding no abuse of discretion in trial court's admission of photographs that were relevant to show the condition and location of the body when discovered). As for the videotape's prejudicial nature, "the fact that [it was] gruesome does not render [its] admission an abuse of discretion." Preston v. State, 607 So.2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992). Regarding its duplicative [sic] nature, the videotape was properly admitted where it depicted the crime scene more broadly, and at different angles, than the photographs. See Davis v. State, 586 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1991); Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1993). Even were the videotape improperly admitted, however, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to convict Appellant of murder. See Issue II, supra; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction for the first-degree murder of Allan Trubilla.

D. The trial court's refusal to excuse two jurors whom defense counsel challenged for cause.

Appellant concedes that this issue was not preserved for appeal, but maintains that reversible error occurred when the trial court refused to exclude Ms. Jacobs and Ms. Renedo. **Brief of Appellant** at 65-66. Given Appellant's concession, the State will not belabor the issue beyond stating that the record supports the trial court's ruling.

E. The cumulative effect of these alleged errors.

In a single sentence, Appellant concludes this issue with the following claim: "Based upon the cumulative effect of all of the errors complained of, [he] is entitled to a new trial. Caruso v. State, 645 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1994); Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1991)." Brief of Appellant at 66. Since the State maintains that Appellant's individual claims are either not preserved or

without merit, *a fortiori* Appellant has suffered no cumulative effect which rendered his trial unfair. Even were some or all of Appellant's claims meritorious, however, they would not constitute fundamental error. Therefore, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence of death for the first-degree murder of Allan Trubilla.

ISSUE VI

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